### 69917-2-1 NO. 6<del>6917-2-1</del>

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

### MICHAEL FARROW and LIDIA FARROW,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

V.

FLOWSERVE USA, Inc.,

S

Respondent/Defendant.

\_\_\_\_

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for King County (Cause No. 08-2-07177-4 SEA)

### **OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

The state of the s

WILLIAM RUTZICK, WSBA #11533 KRISTIN HOUSER, WSBA #7286 THOMAS J. BREEN, WSBA #34574

### SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER

500 Central Building 810 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8000 2013 HAY 29 PM 1: 28

###

### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The King County Superior Court ("trial court") erred in granting respondent Flowserve USA Inc. ("Flowserve" or "defendant" or "Edward") motion for summary judgment against appellants Michael and Lydia Farrow ("plaintiffs").
- The trial court erred in concluding that there were no material disputed issues of fact in connection with defendant's second motion for summary judgment.
- The trial court erred in excluding the deposition of Melvin
   Wortman.

### II. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Does the record, including but not limited to, the evidence submitted by plaintiffs in opposition to summary judgment, contain material disputed issues of fact as to whether Michael Farrow was exposed to asbestos-containing products distributed by Flowserve?
- 2. Did plaintiffs or their counsel violate the King County Asbestos Style Order?
- 3. Is the Wortman deposition admissible pursuant to ER 804(b)(1)?

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Mr. Farrow Worked On and Around Edward Valves While Employed at Puget Sound Naval Shipyard ("PSNS") From 1953 Through 1974.

Defendant admitted in its original motion (CP 14) that Mr. Farrow worked at PSNS between 1953 and 1974 first as a pipefitter (1953-1962), and then in the design shop (1963-1974) and that he worked aboard ships in both of those positions:

Mr. Farrow testified in his deposition that he went to work at PSNS in December of 1953, that he worked as a rigger for a month and then as an apprentice pipefitter on Navy ships until becoming a journeyman pipefitter in late 1957, then transferred in the early 1960s to the PSNS design shop helping design piping systems and making occasional visits to ships where pipefitters worked on the systems, remaining at the design shop until 1974. (Dep. 58-65). (Emphasis added.)

At CP 49, Mr. Farrow testified that while working for the design shop:

We would go down on board ship, and we had to route a certain run of piping a certain way and put a valve in a certain way, and we would put dimensions — take dimensions on the ship. (Emphasis added.)

He also testified that while he was in the design section at PSNS, he "fairly often" worked aboard ships with Mr. Justice, a co-worker. CP 50. He worked aboard ships both at repairing valves and putting on new and different valves. CP 106, 45.

During his tenure at PSNS, plaintiff worked extensively with and around Edward valves.<sup>1</sup> He worked on Edward valves "many times" and was also in proximity when others worked on such valves. CP 141. Farrow worked with a number of different types of Edward valves. CP 66. Mr. Farrow knew he worked on Edward valves because he saw the company name "on the valve body, not the face, but on the valve body." *Id.* 

Mr. Farrow worked on the internal components of Edward valves, including the removal and replacement of packing and gaskets. CP 108, 111, 142. Conditions in the air "very often" would "be dusty" when Mr. Farrow removed packing from Edward valves. He breathed that dust. *Id.* After removing the old packing, Mr. Farrow replaced it with new packing. When repacking an Edward valve with new packing, Mr. Farrow noted that conditions in the air "would be dusty." He breathed that dust. *Id.* Both installing and replacing asbestos-containing gaskets and packing released asbestos dust. CP 320-327. Mr. Farrow never saw a warning concerning the hazards of asbestos on Edward valves. CP 142.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Flowserve acknowledged in its original motion for summary judgment that it was sued "as successor to Edward Valves, Inc. ("EVI")" (CP 11) and refers to EVI's valves as "Edward Valve." Plaintiffs will refer to this defendant as "Edward" or ""Flowserve" or "defendant".

B. Flowserve's Admissions and Other Evidence Establish That Edward Supplied Asbestos Gaskets and Packing for Use In Its Valves, Which Were Installed Aboard Ships Docked At PSNS While Mr. Farrow Worked There.

Defendant's Motion at page 3 (CP 13) admitted:

For purposes of this motion only, the Court may assume (1) that EVI supplied *some* valves that were installed on *some* ships that docked at PSNS before or while Mr. Farrow worked there, and (2) that *some* of those Edward valves came new from EVI's factory with "bonnet" gaskets and/or stem-packing material that contained asbestos. (Italic emphasis in original; underlined emphasis added.)

This admission is consistent with testimony from Flowserve's CR 30(b)(6) witness James Tucker. Mr. Tucker testified that Edward started manufacturing asbestos-containing valves in the 1930s, Edward manufactured valves that contained asbestos at the time the valves left the factory, the asbestos contained in Edward valves at the time they left the factory for installation included both packing and gaskets, and Edward valves were designed to contain asbestos until 1985. CP 151-152.<sup>2</sup>

Edward supplied replacement asbestos gaskets with new valves that already incorporated an original asbestos gasket. Edward also separately sold replacement asbestos gaskets, including sheet gasket material. Edward sold replacement asbestos packing separately as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Edward sold asbestos-containing valves for use on Navy vessels, as well as commercial vessels. CP 152-153. Edward knew that the original asbestos gaskets and packing supplied with its valves would need to be replaced. CP 153.

- Q. Has Edward Valves sold replacement asbestos gaskets with a valve that already incorporated an original asbestos gasket?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Edward Valves knew when it sold valves that there would be occasions where an original asbestos gasket that it had put into the valve would need to be replaced over time?
- A. That is correct.

. . . .

- Q. All right. Did you sell replacement asbestos gaskets separately –
- A. Yes.
- Q. -- for use in Edward Valves?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you sell replacement asbestos packing separately for use in Edward Valves?
- A. Yes.

### CP 153-154.

In fact, Edward recommended and sold replacement asbestos-containing packing called "EValpak" that was marketed exclusively for its own valves. CP 154. According to Edwards, EValpak was "[i]deal for high-temperature, high pressure service. Treated to prevent stem pitting." CP 154-155); see also CP 157, 158-162, 185. All Edward valves up until 1985 contained EValpak asbestos packing. CP 195-196.

CP 152.

Defendant does not have any sales records demonstrating to whom it sold its replacement valves or its asbestos-containing packing:

Q. Edward Valves does not still have any sales records that document when or specifically to whom it sold its valves?

I know of none.

C. By The Mid- to Late-1960s, PSNS Increased Quality Control By Returning To The Equipment Manufacturers Like Edward To Purchase Repair Parts, Including Asbestos-Containing Gaskets And Packing.

Melvin Wortman was a former superintendent of machinists at PSNS from approximately 1968 until 1976. CP 395-396. By the time Mr. Wortman became a superintendent, the Navy and PSNS "were deeply involved in increasing our quality control." CP 221. According to Mr. Wortman, "the increased quality control measures required the Navy to be more careful in purchasing the repair parts, and that at that time there was a great increase in going to the original vendor for repair parts." CP 222 (emphasis added). <sup>4</sup> He further testified that in "later years"

Q. So by the time you became a superintendent, where was the Navy in that process of revamping quality control as a result of the loss of the submarines? [Objections]

A. The Navy and we at Puget <u>were by the time I became superintendent</u> were <u>deeply involved</u> in increasing our quality control.

Q. Okay. And did that -- <u>did that have any effect</u> on the ordering of replacement parts?

A. As I believe I stated before, the increased quality control measures required the Navy to be more careful in purchasing the repair parts, and that at that time there was a great increase in going to the original vendor for repair parts.

CP 221-222 (emphasis added). Mr. Wortman also testified that the replacement parts for shipboard equipment were ordered from the original manufacturer because "[e]xperience had proved that obtaining the parts from the original manufacturer had the best chance of good quality and timeliness in providing the parts." CP 215-216. Mr. Wortman also stressed that when ordering replacement and repair parts from the original manufacturers, "the delivery schedule from the original manufacturers was much more dependable than it was from other contractors." CP 222. In short, once the demands on quality control increased in the 1960s, "there was an effort to try to procure the parts from the original vendor." CP 224. See also CP 213 [replacement packing for a 600-pound globe valve would have been obtained "through the supply department, from the original vendor").

"approximately 50 percent" of the replacement parts obtained for PSNS were obtained from manufacturers. CP 411.

He testified about this matter further throughout his deposition in *Nelson*. <sup>5</sup> For example at CP 206, he testified that "the gasket manufacturers I would not know because generally speaking, it was normal practice to buy them through the supply system from the original vender." (Emphasis added.) At CP 222, he testified that he saw packaging of gaskets or packing while walking around the shop. He testified at CP 217:

Q. You don't limit your belief that most of the gaskets and packing in the equipment that come to the machine shop for use, you don't limit that only to valves, pumps, and compressors but all the rotary equipment,. It's your belief that all the rotary equipment that was sent to the inside machine shop for overhaul probably were provided by the original manufacturer, and that's the gaskets and packing correct?

MS. HOUSER: Object to the form.

A. It is my belief that the greater percentage, or predominance, would be that case, yes. (Emphasis added.)

Mr. Wortman's most complete discussion of this matter appears at CP 221-224.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Wortman's deposition appears in several places in the Clerk's Papers. Excerpts appear at CP 201-225 and 440-477. The complete text also appears at CP 1217-1305.

In his declaration in *Nelson v. Buffalo Pumps, et. al.*, King County Cause No. 08-2-17324-1 SEA (CP 600-601), Mr. Wortman also stated:

Because of time constraints and sometime budget reasons, Shop 31 did not always get the parts from the original manufacturer, but I believe, based on my observations of the replacement parts we received when we were doing work on equipment as part of an overhaul, conversion, or modernization of a ship, approximately 50% of the replacement parts obtained by PSNS between the 1967 to 1971 time period that PSNS obtained replacement parts for equipment, including pumps, compressors and valves came from the manufacturer.

11. I believe that most of the gaskets and packing that were in valves, pumps and compressors when they came to the shop for overhaul were probably provided by the original manufacturer. Some of it was new equipment, being worked on for the first time. Even though other equipment may have been overhauled on other occasions, it was the standard operating procedure to procure the gaskets and packing from the equipment manufacturers via the Navy supply system. (Emphasis added.)

In the *Nelson* deposition, Mr. Wortman incorporated that declaration into his testimony. *See* CP 595, 1296.

Mr. Wortman's deposition in *Nelson* was taken over a three-day period. CP 202, 210, 219. The initial questions were by the attorney for Crane Co., whose questioning covers 200 pages. *See* CP 202 and 219. Defendants Buffalo Pumps, Ingersol Rand, and Warren Pumps also asked questions as did the plaintiffs in *Nelson*. *See* CP 219. Some of those defendants manufactured pumps, *e.g.*, Buffalo Pumps, and some manufactured valves, *e.g.*, Crane Co., and both of those defendants'

products were on ships repaired at PSNS. *See, e.g., Braaten v. Saberhagen Holdings,* 137 Wn. App. 32, 37, 151 P.3d 1010 (2007), *rev'd,* 165 Wn.2d 373, 394-95, 198 P.3d 493 (2008). As part of his initial questions, counsel for Crane Co elicited testimony from Mr. Wortman that Mr. Wortman was not familiar with Edward valves. CP 442.

### C. Procedural History Of This Appeal.

# 1. Flowserve's Original Summary Judgment Motion Was Denied On July 27, 2012.

Flowserve moved for summary judgment in the summer of 2012, which was heard on oral argument on July 27, 2012. Flowserve was not present at the Wortman deposition. However, at oral argument on July 27<sup>th</sup>, Flowserve's counsel admitted that he would not have asked additional questions had it been at Mr. Wortman's deposition. This is set forth in the colloquy set forth in the margin where Flowserve's counsel agreed that he would "just be quiet" at the deposition.

THE COURT: -- now, one of your objections is that counsel representing Edwards Valves was not present and <u>did not have an</u> opportunity to ask questions.

My question to you is, after you received testimony that Edwards Valves, the company, was not familiar to Mr. Wortman, if you -- if you had been present, would you have asked anything else? I mean, in other words --

MR. ALIMENT: <u>No. your Honor</u>. We were not -- we also -- we were not simply -- we weren't present, but we also were not a party to that case.

The trial court understood and relied on those representations from Flowserve when it found Mr. Wortman's deposition admissible under ER 804 and denied summary judgment. The trial court also explained its reasoning. That reasoning included both (a) the court's understanding from counsel that had he been at the Wortman deposition, he "would not have asked any other questions," and (b) the court's conclusion that the other defendants who did ask questions "had similar interests, not identical interests, but similar interests to EVI's counsel":

So the legal question then is is his prior testimony admissible as an exception to the rule against hearsay under Evidence Rule 804, and the Court will find that it is, indeed, admissible.

It is <u>telling</u>, indeed, that had Mr. Aliment been there or a representative from EVI, that they <u>would not have asked</u> any other <u>questions</u> because, let's face it, once you have testimony that, "No, Edwards Valve is not familiar with me, to me," I don't know any attorney who would ask any further questions at that point. <u>In fact, it would probably be malpractice to ask any further questions at that point</u>.

THE COURT: Understood. Understood. Right. But had you been there, I mean, would you have gilded the lily once you had received that --

MR. ALIMENT: Typically in the asbestos litigation, which I have been a part of from the very beginning, you -- when your product is not named at a deposition, what's the point?

THE COURT: Right. You would just be quiet, right?

MR. ALIMENT: That's the practice in this state and I'm sure in most states.

Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript before the Honorable Dean Lum dated July 27, 2012, pp. 5-6 (emphasis added).

Mr. Aliment has conceded that it's the standard of practice in -- in the asbestos community for -- for folks not to gild the lily at that particular point, and that's not surprising that that would -- that would occur. I mean, why would anybody ask any further questions?

So if someone had been there, they would <u>not</u> have asked <u>any other questions other than those questions which were asked by other counsel, and those other counsel had similar <u>interests</u>, not identical interests, <u>but similar interests to EVI's counsel</u>. And -- and to the extent their interests were identical, those questions were asked. I can't imagine any <u>additional benefit to EVI had counsel been present than existed -- than occurred during the deposition.</u></u>

Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript before the Honorable Dean Lum dated July 27, 2012, pp. 45-46 (emphasis added).<sup>7</sup>

Now, the defense has a number of other objections to the Wortman testimony, but all of those objections go to weight, not admissibility. It is for the jury to decide whether -- the reliability of that particular testimony and what weight to give to it. I cannot find as a matter of law that it's -- that the relevance of the Wortman testimony is so tangential that -- so as to -- not to be admissible.

So, <u>if the Wortman testimony is admissible</u> and if we have to take the <u>Plaintiff's testimony for the purposes of this motion as true</u> -- in other words, that he specifically did work on Edwards valves in a -- in a variety of applications, including taking

them apart, <u>installing</u>, reinstalling, that there was a dusty environment, that -- that there's testimony from -- I -- I don't think he's quite a hy -- well, it's a -- it's a scientist. I don't think he's a hygienist. I think he's -- well -- but there's <u>testimony that friable asbestos fibers can travel over the entire ship</u>. I have to take that as testimony as true for the purposes of this particular motion.

The Court will find that there are genuine issues of material fact which preclude summary judgment on the product liability claim, and therefore, that portion of the summary judgment motion is denied.

July 27, 2012 Summary Judgment Tr., pp. 46-47 (emphasis added).

The trial court further explained why Edward's other objections to Mr. Wortman's deposition <u>did not go to admissibility</u> and why the summary judgment <u>motion should be denied</u>:

2. Other **Defendants** Raised Subsequently The Admissibility Of The Wortman Deposition In Connection With Their Motions For Summary Judgment.

Several months later, a number of defendants other than Flowserve moved for summary judgment and plaintiffs responded by offering portions of the Wortman deposition. CP 440-477. Several defendants including Alfa Laval and BW/IP, through their attorney Christine Dinsdale, opposed the admission of the Wortman deposition based upon ER 804 and the King County Asbestos Style Order.

Both in briefing (CP 1984-1986) and at oral argument on November 2, 2012, those defendants argued that ER 804(b)(1)'s "predecessor-in-interest" language<sup>8</sup> only applies to entities that were the defendant's "corporate predecessor" and does not include entities which had similar motives and opportunities to develop the testimony. *See* November 2, 2012 Hearing Transcript, p. 43. At CP 1985-1986, those

The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> ER 804(b)(1) provides:

<sup>(1)</sup> Former Testimony. Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.

defendants discounted the numerous federal cases interpreting Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(1) and instead argued that:

On its face, ER 804(b)(1) prohibits use of Wortman's deposition testimony against Alfa Laval because neither Alfa Laval nor a predecessor in interest had an opportunity to examine Wortman. Washington appellate courts have applied the 804(b)(1) hearsay exception only when a party or its predecessor interest has had an opportunity to cross-examine the witness, at the original deposition or subsequently. See Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 63 Wn. App. 427, 819 P.2d 814 (1991); Allen v. Asbestos Corp., 138 Wn. App. 564, 57 P.3d 406 (2007) (refusing to apply exception where no evidence that party in prior deposition was in fact the current party's predecessor in interest).

Those defendants also argued that the King County Asbestos Order required that judges in King County must interpret ER 804(b)(1) in that fashion. *Braaten*, 137 Wn. App. at 93-94. The Style Order set forth at CP 2059-2131, sets forth a number of procedures that concern asbestos litigation in King County Superior Court.

In response to those arguments, plaintiffs, at oral argument and in supplemental authority (CP 2021-2022), cited appellate cases approving a broader definition of "predecessor-in-interest" under ER 804(b)(1). 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Those cases included *Dykes v. Raymark Indus., Inc.*, 801 F.2d 810 (6th Cir.1986); *Clay v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp.,* 722 F.2d 1289 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1983); *Horne v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.,* 4 F.3d 276 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993); *Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Zenobia,* 325 Md. 420, (1992), and *Lloyd v. American Export Lines, Inc.,* 580 F.2d 1179 (3d Cir. 1978).

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