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

moved for summary judgment under the first method. 100 Wn.2d at 913-

14; see also Guile, 70 Wn. App. at 21-23. While the court ultimately 

found that its evidence was insufficient to disprove an essential element of 

the plaintiff s claim, it never said that a plaintiff confronted with a motion 

based on the second method could avoid summary judgment without 

coming forward with evidence. Hash, 100 Wn.2d at 916. 

In Hash a child who broke his leg during physical therapy in a 

hospital sued the hospital. ld. at 913. The hospital moved for summary 

judgment on the issue of causation. The supporting affidavits, however, 

failed because they said little more than that the plaintiffs injuries could 
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have occurred even in the absence of negligence. ld. at 913-14. Because 

the affidavits left open the possibility that the injuries were in fact caused 

by the hospital, the court found that summary jUdgment was improper. ld. 

at 916. As the court explained, "We find it impossible to uphold a ruling 

that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact when the record 

contains all questions and no facts." ld. 

Hash's logic does not apply, however, where a defendant's motion 

for summary judgment is based on a failure in the plaintiffs proof. When 

a plaintiff is confronted with such a motion, she must come forward with 

evidence for her claim in order to show that a fact question exists. In the 

absence of such evidence, the defendant is entitled to summary judgment 

because no issues of fact remain. See Guile, 70 Wn. App. at 23, 27. 

Nothing in Hash, or any other case, permits a case to go to the jury on a 

whim and a prayer. Boguch, 153 Wn. App. at 610-11; Schmidt v. Pioneer 

United Dairies, 60 Wn.2d 271, 276, 373 P.2d 764 (1962) ("[AJ jury will 

not be allowed to resort to conjecture to determine the facts"). 

C. Melvin Wortman's deposition testimony, given in another case in 
which EVI had no involvement, is hearsay, lacks foundation, and 
cannot defeat EVI's motion for summary judgment. 

Throughout the course of this litigation the plaintiff has never 

pointed to any admissible evidence that Mr. Farrow was exposed to 

asbestos from an EVI product. Instead, she tries to create a fact question 
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out of whole cloth by using a deposition from a different case, that EVI 

did not know about, and that EVI did not attend, in which the deponent, 

Mr. Wortman, testified that he had never heard of EVI or Mr. Farrow. CP 

205. How this testimony permits the inference that Mr. Farrow was 

exposed to asbestos from an EVI product is anybody's guess. Yet the 

plaintiff would have this court hold that Mr. Wortman's testimony is 

admissible in perpetuity against all defendants, regardless of whether they 

had ever heard of him or his deposition. There is no justification for such a 

sweeping denial of the absent defendants' due process rights and the 

plaintiff offers none. 

Mr. Wortman was deposed in an asbestos products liability case 

captioned Nelson v. Buffalo Pumps, Inc. in April 2009. CP 201. EVI was 

never a party to this case, never given notice of the deposition, and never 

had the opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Wortman. Because Mr. 

Wortman is now deceased, EVI will never have the opportunity to cross

examine him. 

Mr. Wortman was not designated as an expert. CP 1244-45. He 

worked at PSNS for 35 years, and acted as a machinists' superintendent 

from approximately 1966 until 1976. CP 1210. While he estimated that 

"[a]pproximately 50 percent of the replacement parts obtained by PSNS 

between the 1967 to 1971 time period" came from the original 
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manufacturer, CP 1213, the record shows that he lacked personal 

knowledge to support that assertion. Mr. Wortman testified that he had 

never heard of EYI or Mr. Farrow. CP 205. He never worked in PSNS's 

supply department and never had any responsibilities for the acquisition of 

materials. CP 213. He had nothing to do with purchases at or for PSNS. 

CP 222. He has never reviewed any invoices or purchase orders of any 

government documentation to any manufacturer of any equipment 

requesting replacement gaskets or packing. CP 217 . 

Mr. Wortman's testimony was taken in another lawsuit in which 

EYI was not a party, the plaintiff claims that it is admissible under ER 

804(b)(1), which excludes from the hearsay rule the deposition testimony 

of an unavailable witness if the party against whom it is offered or its 

predecessor in interest had the opportunity and motive to develop the 

witness's testimony. See Acord v. Pettit, 174 Wn. App. 95, _ P.3d _ 

(2013 ) (finding that predecessor in interest must have had the opportunity 

and like motive to develop the testimony of the witness as to same 

material facts as present party). Because none of the equipment 

manufacturers at Mr. Wortman's deposition shared EYI's motive to 

discredit Mr. Wortman as a witness whose testimony might show that EYI 

supplied replacement parts to the Navy, none qualified as EYI's 

predecessor in interest under the rule. In fact, the other equipment 
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manufacturers, each hoping to spread liability to as many parties as 

possible, had a motive to show that EVI sold replacement parts to the 

Navy. This motive is directly the opposite of EVI's desire to exonerate 

itself. For this reason, Mr. Wortman's testimony cannot qualify for 

admission under ER 804(b)(1). See New England Mut. Life Ins. v. 

Anderson, 888 F.2d 646, 652 (10th Cir. 1989) (test not met where prior 

defendant's counsel "was simply not disposed to protect [the current 

party's] interests in his examination of the witness as he sought to protect 

his client); Rich v. Kaiser Gypsum Co., Inc., 103 So. 3d 903, 910 (Fl. Dist. 

Ct. App. 2012) ("an entirely different product in a products liability case is 

the type of distinction that would preclude similar motive of witness 

examination"); see also Acord, 174 Wn. App. at 101 (test met where prior 

defendant had developed testimony as to boundary at issue in current 

lawsuit in course of examining witness about same fence at center of both 

adverse possession lawsuits). 

The plaintiff nevertheless argues that Mr. Wortman's testimony 

should be admissible against EVI because other parties who attended Mr. 

Wortman's deposition adequately questioned him about the Navy's 

acquisition of replacement parts. To support this argument, the plaintiff 

makes much of the fact that EVI's counsel stated that if he had attended 

the deposition he likely would not have asked Mr. Wortman further 
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questions after Mr. Wortman admitted that he did not know EVI. The 

plaintiff misconstrues this statement as proof that EVI's interests were 

fully protected by those present at the deposition when it actually proves 

only that Mr. Wortman knew nothing about EVI. Plaintiffs argument that 

Mr. Wortman's ignorance of EVI somehow supports the admission of his 

testimony makes no sense at all. His testimony is hearsay that does not 

qualify for admission under 804(b)( 1). 

Even if it were not hearsay, Mr. Wortman's testimony would still 

be inadmissible because the plaintiff cannot show that he had personal 

knowledge to support his assertions. ER 602 requires that "[a] witness 

may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to 

support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter." 

Here, the plaintiff has not, and cannot, make such a showing. While Mr. 

Wortman claimed that the Navy purchased 50 percent of its replacement 

parts from the original vendor, there is nothing in the record to show that 

he had personal knowledge to support his claim. He never had any 

responsibilities for the acquisition of materials. CP 2l3. He had nothing to 

do with purchases. CP 222. He never reviewed any invoices or purchase 

orders. CP 217. And he had never even heard ofEVI. CP 205. 

The trial court's holding that Mr. Wortman's testimony could not 

be offered against EVI should therefore be affirmed. 
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D. The plaintiffs attorneys never issued a style notice that would 
have given EVI an opportunity to examine Mr. Wortman before 
his testimony was offered against it. 

The King County Asbestos "Style" Order rules create a simple 

procedure for asbestos litigants who want to use a deposition from one 

case in other cases against absent parties. To ensure fairness to all parties 

"who are intended to be bound" by the deposition, the rule says that the 

party must serve a "style notice" and pre-deposition statement describing 

the subject matter and substance of the anticipated testimony to those 

parties whom the proponent intends to bind with the testimony. CP 1907, 

1931 (~5.6(d)(7)); 117/2013 RP 19. If a party follows this mechanism, and 

the style notice is properly served, then the deposition may be used in 

other cases. Style Order rules apply to cases filed by named law firms, 

including the firm representing the Farrows. See CP 1928. 

In her brief the plaintiff argues that Mr. Wortman's testimony 

should be admissible against EVI notwithstanding that her counsel did not 

follow the style notice procedure. She argues that the rule should be 

disregarded because it somehow conflicts with ER 804(b)( 1). She also 

argues that the rule should not apply because Mr. Wortman's deposition in 

the Nelson case was noticed by a defendant rather than her attorneys. 

These arguments miss the point. 
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The style notice procedure does not conflict with ER 804(b)(1). 

Rather, it works in tandem with ER 804(b)(1) by providing a mechanism 

through which a deposition can be used in multiple cases while 

simultaneously ensuring that litigants have a full and fair opportunity to 

examine a witness before his testimony can be offered against them. If the 

plaintiff s counsel had served EVI with a style notice before Mr. 

Wortman's deposition, EVI could have cross-examined Mr. Wortman and 

the admissibility of his deposition might have been mooted. Their failure 

to do so however, hardly means that the King County rule conflicts with 

804(b)(1) or that Mr. Wortman's testimony can now be offered against 

EVI. 

The plaintiffs attorneys cannot excuse their own lack of foresight 

by suggesting that because a defendant noticed Mr. Wortman's deposition 

in the Nelson case, they had no opportunity to issue their own style notice 

for the deposition. If they wanted to give EVI and other potential 

defendants an opportunity to fully and fairly examine Mr. Wortman, then 

they could have issued a cross-notice for his deposition that complied with 

King County style notice procedures. Or, they could have issued a 

separate style notice for Mr. Wortman's deposition and served it on EVI 

and all other potential defendants at any time before his death.). The court 

should reject the plaintiff s attempt to use testimony against those who 
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never had an opportunity to examine Mr. Wortman due to the plaintiff s 

omISSIOn. 

E. Allowing the plaintiff to offer testimony of a deceased witness 
against a party who never had an opportunity to cross-examine him 
is fundamentally unfair and would create dangerous future 
precedent. 

If the plaintiffs position is accepted and Mr. Wortman's testimony 

is allowed against EVI, it would set new and dangerous precedent for 

asbestos litigation in this state. Such a holding would allow future 

plaintiffs to admit Mr. Wortman's testimony against essentially anyone for 

any purpose for all time. Mr. Wortman testified that he never heard of 

EVI. He is now deceased, and EVI never had an opportunity to question 

him. If his testimony can be offered against EVI to somehow show that 

EVI supplied replacement parts to the Navy or PSNS, it follows that there 

are essentially no limits on the admissibility of his testimony so that it can 

be offered against anyone (regardless of whether they ever had a chance to 

question him) for any purpose (regardless of whether he knows anything 

about them) for all time (and he can never be cross examined). The 

hearsay rule safeguards minimum due process rights for litigants. 

Adopting the plaintiff s position in this case would eliminate those 

safeguards for EVI and countless future litigants. 

-25-

4199245.2 



F. Even if admitted, Mr. Wortman's testimony fails to create an 
inference that Mr. Farrow was exposed to a replacement part from 
EVI, and therefore summary judgment should be affirmed. 

Even if Mr. Wortman's testimony is deemed admissible under ER 

804(b)(1), it is still insufficient to show that Mr. Farrow was exposed to 

asbestos from a product that EVI placed in the stream of commerce.2 At 

best, his testimony stands for no more than the proposition that the Navy 

started buying 50 percent of some replacement parts from some original 

equipment manufacturers at PSNS in 1967. CP 1213. There is nothing to 

show that Navy purchased any replacement parts form EVI. Indeed, Mr. 

Wortman admitted that he never heard ofEVI. 

Q: Let me ask you the names of some valves 
and see if they sound familiar to you okay? 

A: Yes. 

* * * 

Q: Edward Valves? 

A: No. 

2 The plaintiff's suggestion that EVI has conceded that Mr. Wortman's testimony would 
create a fact issue is false and misleading. (App. Br. at 16 n.l 0, 40). EVI has consistently 
maintained that Mr. Wortman's testimony does not prove Mr. Farrow was exposed to an 
asbestos-containing part from EVI. CP 603. EV!'s assertion, "other than the Wortman 
testimony, there is no evidence or admission [of exposure attributable to EVIl," was 
intended to highlight that the Wortman testimony was the only evidence the plaintiff 
offered to support her case and that no further evidence had been presented to defeat 
summary judgment. 
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CP 205. His testimony therefore says nothing about whether EYI supplied 

replacement parts to the Navy or whether Mr. Farrow was exposed to any 

EYI products. 

Even when combined with all the other evidence in the record, and 

even when every inference is drawn in the plaintiff's favor, Mr. 

Wortman's testimony does not show that Mr. Farrow was exposed to 

asbestos from an EYI product. At best, the evidence shows that EY!' s 

metal valves were at PSNS and that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos

containing products attached to those valves. There is no evidence, 

however, to show that EYI placed any of those asbestos products in the 

stream of commerce. And Mr. Wortman's testimony does not change this 

fact. 

The plaintiff cites Morgan v. Aurora Pump Co., 159 Wn. App. 

724, 248 P.3d 1052, rev. denied, 172 Wn.2d 10 15 (2011), as purported 

support for her contention that Mr. Wortman's testimony establishes a fact 

question that precludes summary judgment. The case, however, does no 

such thing. In fact, contrasting the facts in Morgan to those here neatly 

demonstrates what is missing from the plaintiff's case and why the trial 

court properly granted EYI's motion. In Morgan, the court found that the 

plaintiff's asbestos related claims survived summary judgment because 

"the combined testimony of various witnesses" created a triable issue "that 
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[the plaintiff] was exposed to asbestos originally contained in products 

supplied by Respondents or asbestos in replacement products supplied by 

Respondents ." Id. at 736-39 (emphasis added). That testimony included 

not just Mr. Wortman's testimony but an abundance of evidence that 

simply does not exist in this case. 

For example, in Morgan, a co-worker specifically testified that he 

observed the plaintiff working with the internal components of new and 

old valves. Id. at 724,732,746,738 n.16, 741.3 Here, nobody has ever 

testified that Mr. Farrow or anyone in his presence worked with the 

internal components of new valves. In Morgan, all of the defendants other 

than Warren Pumps admitted that they supplied asbestos-containing 

replacement parts to the Navy or PSNS. Id. at 736. Here, EVI has never 

made such an admission. And in Morgan, the plaintiff offered testimony 

from Mr. Wortman4 and coworker Jack Knowles specifically identifying 

Warren Pumps. CP 1211. Here, the plaintiff offered testimony from Mr. 

Wortman specifically saying that he had never heard of EVI. CP 205. In 

3 For example, the Morgan court found that a material issue of fact was created for 
defendant DeLaval by testimony from co-worker Jack Knowles, who responded "yes" 
when asked "Do you recall seeing other people work with packing in Mr. Morgan's 
presence on brand-new DeLaval pumps." ld. at 738 n.16. 

4 In Morgan, the court never considered whether Mr. Wortman's testimony is admissible 
against parties who were not present at his deposition. The court expressly found that any 
objection to the admissibility Mr. Wortman's testimony was not preserved for appeal so it 
never reached the question. Morgan, 159 Wn. App. at 733 n.ll. 

-28-

4199245.2 



other words, the plaintiff in Morgan survived summary judgment because 

he did exactly what the plaintiff in this case has failed to do, offer 

admissible evidence showing exposure to asbestos material that the

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